No. 47483-2

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
THOMAS A. LUNSCHEN, Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.
BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Isabel A. M. Cole, WSBA# 46766
TACOMA INJURY LAW GROUP, INC., P.S.
A Professional Services Corporation
Attorneys at Law
3848 S. Junett St.
Tacoma, WA 98409
P.O. Box 1113
Tacoma, WA 98401
Ph: (253) 472-8566

Fax: (253) 475-1221

Isabel@tacomainjurylawgroup.com

Attorney for Appellant, Thomas A. Lunschen

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

Thomas Lunschen assigns error to the following rulings made by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (hereinafter "Board") and the trial court:

- 1. The Board's Decision and Order¹ dated February 20, 2014 Findings of Fact 3, when it found that on June 9, 2005, Mr. Lunschen had no objective findings and no permanent partial disability proximately caused by the industrial injury. (CP 60)
- 2. The Board's Decision and Order dated February 20, 2014 Findings of Fact 4, when it found that on January 4, 2013 Mr. Lunschen had no objective findings and no permanent partial disability proximately caused by January 17, 2005 industrial injury. (CP 60)
- 3. The Board's Decision and Order dated February 20, 2014 Findings of Fact 5, when it found that Mr. Lunschen's condition proximately caused by the industrial injury did not objectively worsen between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013. (CP 60)
- 4. The Board's Decision and Order dated February 20, 2014 Findings of Fact 6, when it found that Mr. Lunschen's condition diagnosed

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ The February 20, 2014 Proposed Decision and Order was adopted by the Board on April 22, 2014.

as degenerative disc disease was not proximately caused or aggravated by the industrial injury between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013. (CP 60)

- 5. The Board's Decision and Order dated February 20, 2014, Findings of Fact 7, when it found that Mr. Lunschen sustained an intervening injury to his low back on May 29, 2012, while working in his garden. (CP 61)
- 6. The Board's Decision and Order dated February 20, 2014 Conclusions of Law 2, when it found that between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013, Mr. Lunschen's condition proximately caused by the industrial injury did not objectively worsen within the meaning of RCW 51.32.160. (CP 61)
- 7. The Board's Decision and Order dated February 20, 2014 Conclusions of Law 3, when it affirmed the January 4, 2013 Department order. (CP 61)
- 8. The Court's failure to grant Mr. Lunschen's Motion for Summary Judgment because the Board improperly applied the law. (Verbatim Report of Proceedings 14) (Hereinafter "RP")
- 9. The Court's failure to give Mr. Lunschen's proposed jury instruction #11 because it did not allow him to argue this theory of the case. (RP 155)

10. The Court's failure to give Mr. Lunschen's proposed jury instruction # 15 because it did not allow the plaintiff to argue his theory of the case. (RP 169)

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether Mr. Lunschen had objective findings and a permanent partial disability proximately caused by January 17, 2005 industrial injury on either June 9, 2005 or on January 4, 2013. (Assignment of Error 1 and 2).
- 2. Whether Mr. Lunschen's condition proximately caused by the industrial injury objectively worsened between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013 within the meaning of RCW 51.32.160 (Assignment of Error 3 and 6).
- 3. Whether Mr. Lunschen's condition diagnosed as degenerative disc disease was proximately caused or aggravated by the industrial injury between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013. (Assignment of Error 4).
- 4. Whether Mr. Lunschen sustained an intervening injury on May 29, 2012, while gardening. (Assignment of Error 5).
- 5. Whether the Board was correct when it affirmed the Department order issued on January 4, 2013. (Assignment of Error 7).
- 6. Whether the trial court was correct when it denied Mr. Lunschen's Summary Judgment motion because there was no genuine issue of material fact, only a question of law in that the Board never considered the

McDougle v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 64 Wn.2d 640, 393 P.2d 631 (1964) standard for ordinary incidents of everyday living. (Assignment of Error 8).

- 7. Whether the trial court erred when it failed to give Mr. Lunschen's proposed jury instruction #11 because it did not allow him to argue his theory of the case that the aggravation of his industrial injury was not a supervening injury but caused by normal incidents of everyday living as set out in *McDougle*. (Assignment of Error 9).
- 8. Whether the trial court erred when it failed to give Mr. Lunschen's proposed jury instruction # 15 because it did not allow him to argue his theory of the case that his 2005 injury "lit up" his degenerative disk disease which made the aggravation of his injury more likely. (Assignment of Error 10).

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Thomas Lunschen filed an Application for Benefits for an industrial injury he sustained while in the course of his employment on January 17, 2005, with the Department of Labor and Industries of the State of Washington (Hereinafter "Department"). The claim was allowed on February 1, 2005 and after Mr. Lunschen received medical treatment and other benefits, the claim was closed on June 9, 2005 with no Permanent Partial Disability rating. On June 6, 2012 Mr. Lunschen applied to reopen his claim for an aggravation that occurred on May 29, 2012. On August 21,

2012 the Department denied the reopening application. On September 21, 2012 Mr. Lunschen protested the denial through his attorney. On September 28, 2012 the Department held the closing order in abeyance for reconsideration. On January 4, 2013 the Department affirmed the closure. On January 10, 2013 Mr. Lunschen's treating Chiropractor protested the closure and on February 26, 2013 Mr. Lunschen appealed the closure through his attorney. On March 12, 2013 the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (hereinafter "Board") granted the appeal and a hearing before the Board was held on October 16, 2013. On February 20, 2014 Industrial Appeals Judge Greg J. Duras Affirmed the Department order denying Mr. Lunschen's reopening application. Mr. Lunschen filed a Petition for Review on April 3, 2014 which was denied on April 22, 2014. Mr. Lunschen filed an appeal with Pierce County Superior Court on May 15, 2014. Mr. Lunschen filed a Motion for Summary Judgment which was heard by Judge Martin on February 20, 2015. Judge Martin denied the Motion for Summary Judgment and trial commenced on March 9, 2015. On March 11, 2015 the jury rendered a verdict in favor of the Department and final judgment from the Court was entered on March 27, 2015. This appeal follows that judgment.

IV. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

The Industrial Insurance Act of the State of Washington (Hereinafter "Act") was enacted in 1911. The Act essentially did away with the common law system governing the remedy of workers against employers for injuries received in the course of their employment, "finding that due to modern industrial conditions the remedies were economically unwise and unfair." RCW 51.04.010. The Act is a compromise between employers and their workers. *Dennis v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 469, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). In exchange for limited liability, the employer pays on some claims that have no common law liability. *Id.* at 469. And in exchange for a lower rate of recovery than he or she could have received in a civil action, the worker is assured of a remedy without having to fight for it. *Id.*

This case arises out of a workplace injury and thus the Act applies by and through RCW Title 51. The Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment. Dennis, 109 Wn.2d at 470; see also RCW 51.12.010; see also Montoya v. Greenway Aluminum Co., 10 Wn. App. 630, 634, 519 P.2d 22 (1974). The Act differs substantially from other administrative laws. It is the product of a compromise between employers and workers through which employers

accepted limited liability for claims that might not have been compensable under the common law, and workers forfeited common law remedies in favor of sure and certain relief. RCW 51.04.010; *Cowlitz Stud Co. v. Clevenger*, 157 Wn.2d 569, 572-573, 141 P.3d 1 (2006). It is important to note that, "the Act was written to provide sure and certain relief to injured workers." *Dennis*, 109 Wn.2d at 470. "All doubts are to be resolved in favor of the injured worker." *Id*.

It has been noted that it is not any particular portion of Title 51 that is to be liberally construed. Rather, it is the entire statutory scheme that receives the benefits of liberal construction. Each statutory provision should be read in reference to the whole act. For instance, "We construe related statutes as a whole, trying to give effect to all the language and to harmonize all provisions." *Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 101 Wn. App. 777, 792, 6 P.3d 583 (2000), aff'd, 144 Wn.2d 907, 32 P.3d 250 (2001).

In Cockle v. Department of Labor & Industries the Court observed the "overarching objective" of Title 51 is to reduce to a minimum "the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." Cockle v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn.2d 801, 16 P.3d 583 (2001) (quoting RCW 51.12.010) (Emphasis added). "Also, on a practical level, this Court has recognized that the workers' compensation system should continue "serv[ing] the goal of swift and

certain relief for injured workers." *Cockle*, 142 Wn.2d at 822, 16 P.3d 583 (quoting) *Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri*, 117 Wn.2d 128, 138, 814 P.2d 629 (1991).

Additionally, "where reasonable minds can differ over what Title 51 provisions mean, in keeping with the legislation's fundamental purpose, the benefits of the doubt belongs to the injured worker." *Id.* at 811. *See Clauson v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 130 Wn.2d 580, 586, 925 P.2d 624 (1996); *see also McClelland v. ITT Rayonier Inc.*, 65 Wn. App. 386, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992).

Mr. Thomas V. Lunschen requests that the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals' April 22, 2014 Decision and Order be reversed and his reopening application be approved so that he can receive treatment and other benefits that accrue to him under the Act as a result of his 2005 industrial injury. Mr. Lunschen has presented a *prima facie* case of worsening of his 2005 industrial injury condition, and through liberal construction of Title 51 the Board was incorrect when it affirmed the Department of Labor and Industries' denial of Mr. Lunschen's reopening application.

Alternatively, Mr. Lunschen requests that the Washington Court of Appeals find that the Superior Court's failure to issue his proposed jury instructions numbers eleven and fifteen was error because it did not allow him to argue his theory of the case to the jury, and consequently the case should be reversed remanded back to the Superior Court.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 17, 2005, Mr. Lunschen, while working for RFK Construction, was shoveling concrete out of a Bobcat bucket when he felt pain and a pinch. (CP 98-99) Mr. Lunschen visited a Chiropractor shortly thereafter, Vernon Kaczmarski, D.C., who evaluated him and recorded findings that were consistent with a lumbar strain, subluxation, and accompanying muscle spasm. (CP 131)

X-rays that were taken of Mr. Lunschen's low back on January 24, 2005 showed evidence of diffuse degenerative changes in the lumbar spine. (CP 135) Mr. Lunschen's claim with the Department and Industries of the State of Washington was approved. (CP 73) Mr. Lunschen was anticipated to return to work by the end of January of 2005, but after returning for a few days he clinically worsened and Dr. Kaczmarski took him back off work. (CP 189) He was sent for an MRI that showed Mr. Lunschen had some degenerative changes, loss of joint space, instability, and bony changes, throughout the spine, specifically L1 through L3. (CP 189) He also had annular tearing at L4-L5 and at L5-S1 discs with protrusion, but the one at L5-S1 was more prominent on the left. (CP 189) Annular tearing can create leaking of hyaluronic acid out of the disc which causes the immune system

to swell at that site; and it can cause the disc to become misshapen and bulge or extrude. (CP 190) Mr. Lunschen's discs were bulging so he had encroachment as well as chemical irritation. (CP 190)

Mr. Lunschen's condition worsened so he was referred to Dr. Martin, an orthopedic surgeon, who specializes in care and treatment of disorders of the spine. (CP136) Massage therapy was continued and physical therapy was added before Mr. Lunschen slowly began to improve. (CP 136) On March 30th, 2005, more than ten weeks from the original injury, Dr. Kaczmarski noted improvement of 75 to 80 percent, although Mr. Lunschen continued to experience stiffness in his low back with limited lumbar motion and trigger point tenderness through his mid lumbar spine area. (CP 136)

On April 1, 2005, Mr. Lunschen returned to work, although he restricted himself to light duty initially, and he continued chiropractic treatment until May 7, 2005, and massage therapy until May 14, 2005. (CP 136) On June 1, 2005 Dr. Kaczmarski filed a final report noting that Mr. Lunschen had been released to return to work and that there was no permanent impairment or no obvious residual impaired function as a result of this injury. (CP 136-137)

Mr. Lunschen testified that he went back to work because he had to; he didn't want to lose his job and so he asked Dr. Kaczmarski to release him. (CP 102) Mr. Lunschen reported that his back was a little better, he was able "to move around and stuff," but he could still feel it. (CP 109) Mr. Lunschen felt that a back injury was something that never really went away without surgery; but because he'd heard different stories about surgery he stated he didn't want anyone "cutting on my back," so "I just kind of man up and took it and ate a lot of aspirins and ibuprofen." (CP 109) However, he always had pain in his lower back whenever he lifted or carried material from the time he returned to work in 2005 until he stopped working when he was laid off due to the recession in 2008. (CP 99, 125)

On May 29, 2012, Mr. Lunschen was working in his garden with a garden implement called a "claw" when he felt his back "slip out," and the pain brought him down to one knee. (CP 102, 117) The following day Mr. Lunschen was unable to get out of bed, but he delayed getting treatment because he had no health insurance and he didn't know what to do. (CP 102) Mr. Lunschen called the Department of Labor and Industries because he thought his back had been inflamed from his old injury and was informed his claim from 2005 was still open, so he called Dr. Kaczmarski who agreed to see him. (CP 102, 125)

Dr. Kaczmarski testified that Mr. Lunschen presented with complaints of low back pain radiating into the left glut (sic), and left leg pain that were very similar to his prior injury. (CP 193) Injuries to L4-L5 or L5-S1 predominantly affect the sciatic nerve, and because Mr. Lunschen's complaint was of pain down his back and the back of his leg his injury had to be in the L4-L5, L5-S1 area, which was the area of his prior injury. (CP 193-194) Dr. Kaczmarski testified that he considered his current treatment of Mr. Lunschen as a continuation of his treatment for his 2005 injury. (CP 203) Therefore, Dr. Kaczmarski took films and went through the process of reopening the previous claim. (CP 194)

Dr. Kaczmarski took repeat lumbopelvic films, both AP and lateral. (CP 194) Dr. Kaczmarski stated that the subsequent x-ray in 2012 had the same kind of end plate degenerative changes at L1 through L3 and increased sacral base angle that were found in the 2005 x-ray. (CP 194) However, the newer x-ray was different in that when Mr. Lunschen first came in for the industrial injury in 2005 he had a Grade 1 retrolisthesis of L5 on S1 (the vertebra of L5 had slipped back on the sacrum), but the 2012 x-ray had retrolisthesis of L4-L5. (CP 194-195) This was significant because of the annular tearing at L4-L5 and L5-S1 discovered on the MRI after the 2005 industrial injury which Dr. Kaczmarski stated created a predisposed weakness area. (CP 195)

Dr. Kaczmarski saw Mr. Lunschen 27 times in four months for his 2005 industrial injury and 42 times after his aggravation, for a total of 69 times for treatment. (CP 195-196) The degenerative changes that were noted in the x-ray of Mr. Lunschen in 2005 had progressed with involvement of narrowing of the disc space heights from the top of the lumbar spine, L1, through the bottom of the lumbar spine, S1. (CP 140) This area begins about two inches above belt line and extends about three inches below the belt line in the low back region. (CP 144) Mr. Lunschen continued to see Dr. Kaczmarski and the physical findings revealed absent reflexes in the left lower extremity and positive straight leg raising on the left, consistent with nerve involvement. (CP 139)

Mr. Lunschen was also seen for intense low back pain with radiation on June 30, 2012 in the emergency room at Good Samaritan Hospital after he was taken there by ambulance. (CP 139) The evaluation at Good Samaritan revealed that Mr. Lunschen was suffering from low back pain with radiation and he was discharged on cyclobenzaprine (Flexeril), a medication for muscle spasms; he was also given a Medrol dose pack which is a cortisone preparation that is very strong and given over a decreasing dose basis for six days, as well as oxycodone, a strong pain medication. (CP139-140)

When examined by Dr. H. Richard Johnson, Mr. Lunschen complained of constant low back pain, radiating into his left lower extremity to the calf, with numbness and tingling into the sole of the left foot. (CP 143) The low back pain varied in severity from 5 to 10 out of ten with 10 being the most severe, and Mr. Lunschen would sometimes be awakened at night by pain radiating into the left foot. (CP 143) He sometimes had spasms in his low back and complained of stiffness in his low back that would increase at night, often awakening him an average of three times a night. (CP 143)

Upon physical exam, Dr. Johnson noted objective medical evidence that included a gait analysis of an obvious limp, palpable spasm in the muscles of the lumbar spine, limited range of motion, flattening of the normal lumbar lordosis, slight atrophy of the right calf, as well as subjective findings such as tenderness on the thigh trigger points that were consistent with L4-L5 nerve irritation. (CP149-151)

Dr. Johnson opined on a more probable than not medical basis and with objective medical certainty that with regard to the industrial injury of January 17, 2005, the records and detailed physical findings were consistent with the fact that Mr. Lunschen did sustain a lumbar strain/sprain injury; that there was also aggravation or lighting up of preexisting diffuse lumbar spondylosis, or diffuse degenerative changes in the lumbar spine; that there

was evidence of annular tears of the annulus fibrosis at L4-L5 and L5-S1 levels; and also findings consistent with left lumbar radiculopathy. (CP 155)

Dr. Johnson further opined that following the closure of Mr. Lunschen's claim, he continued to experience episodic recurrent low back pain with recent recurrence of left lumbar radiculopathy, as well as evidence of objective progression of the lumbar spondylosis, the degenerative changes in the lumbar spine that are of an asymmetric nature, the type seen post-traumatically rather than the type seen with the aging process. (CP 155-159) Furthermore, Dr. Johnson also opined that between June 9, 2005 and January 4, 2013, there was evidence of objective worsening of Mr. Lunschen's condition. (CP 156) Dr. J. Greg Zoltani, a medical examiner hired by the Department of Labor and Industries, testified that although he disagreed with Dr. Kaczmarski's final determination, he agreed with Dr. Kaczmarski's interpretation of the x-rays. (CP 235, 241) Dr. Kaczmarski diagnosed retrolisthesis of Mr. Lunschen's lumbar spine in both 2005 and 2012. (CP 194-195) However, even though Dr. Zoltani stated he agreed with Dr. Kaczmarski's interpretation of the x-rays, he stated he and Dr. Tanner had found no retrolisthesis on either x-ray. (CP 239-240) Dr. Zoltani admitted that the pain Mr. Lunschen felt in 2005 in his industrial injury was in the left leg and the pain he felt at his recurrent symptoms in 2012 was in

his left leg as well, and he stated that Mr. Lunschen suffered an acute onset of worsened symptoms in 2012. (CP 241-242)

Dr. Zoltani testified that absent reflexes in the ankles, such as Mr. Lunschen's, usually represents a peripheral neuropathy most commonly caused by diabetes. (CP 241) However, Dr. Zoltani admitted that there was no record that Mr. Lunschen had ever been diagnosed with diabetes. (CP 241) Upon further examination Dr. Zoltani testified that, although the pain Mr. Lunschen complained of could be caused by neuropathy, it could also be caused by nerve irritation at the spine. (CP 241)

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