#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### THOMAS A. LUNSCHEN,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Rebecca Kim Echols Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 45522 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6537

##

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

Wendt does not support the giving of a "lighting up" instruction in this case. See App. Br. 34-36. Lunschen ignores that the worker's condition in Wendt was completely asymptomatic before the industrial injury. In Wendt, the court found that substantial evidence supported a "lighting up" instruction because the worker's medical expert directly tied his symptoms to his preexisting, asymptomatic arthritis:

The injury to the posterior chest however was one which created not only rib fractures but also the initiation of symptoms which have created spasms and pain since that time. I believe that these symptoms refer to the hypertrophic osteoarthritis which is seen in the mid and low back and that this was not caused by the industrial injury. These changes pre-existed the industrial injury but have come into symptomatic being through the trauma which the industrial injury visited upon these pre-existing but asymptomatic areas.

18 Wn. App. at 677 (emphasis added). But, as explained above, Lunschen did not present any such evidence, and the record supports that he had recurrent back pain after his 1989 injury. Therefore, he was not entitled to a "lighting up" instruction under *Wendt*.

Wendt is also distinguishable because, unlike Lunschen, the only medical evidence of worsening that Wendt presented to the jury related to worsening of his preexisting arthritis condition. See Wendt, 18 Wn. App. at 677-78. Wendt's claim could only be reopened if the preexisting arthritis condition became part of the claim under the "lighting up" theory.

In contrast, Lunschen presented evidence from Dr. Kaczmarski of objective worsening of several other conditions, including low back strain, low back pain, and radiating left-sided leg pain. *See* CP 203. Similarly, Dr. Johnson testified to worsening of not just degenerative changes, but worsening of Lunschen's low back pain and left lumbar radiculopathy. CP 155-56. Whereas in *Wendt*, the worker's preexisting arthritis condition was the only condition that he claimed had worsened, Lunschen presented evidence of objective worsening of conditions other than his preexisting degenerative disc disease. Compared to *Wendt*, the "lighting up" instruction did not embody the "gist or substance" of Lunschen's claim and it was properly denied. *See Wendt*, 18 Wn. App. at 679.

3. Lunschen Was Not Prejudiced by the Denial of the "Lighting up" Instruction Because the Multiple Proximate Cause Instruction Adequately Addressed His Theory of Aggravation

Even if the "lighting up" instruction should have been given,

Lunschen was not prejudiced by the failure to give it because he was able
to argue his theory using the multiple proximate cause instruction. He did
not argue to the jury that his preexisting degenerative changes should be
considered part of his claim because it was lit up by his 2005 work injury.

Rather, he argued that those degenerative changes were a factor that
predisposed his low back to injury in 2012. Contrary to his assertion, his

degenerative condition did not need to become part of his claim for this theory to be explained to the jury. See App. Br. 36.

When asked to explain how Lunschen's current condition was related to his industrial injury, Dr. Johnson testified that the 2005 injury "caused an asymmetric progression of degenerative changes in his lumbar spine, predisposing him, then, to aggravation of his *low back condition* with less stress than if the injury hadn't occurred." CP 170 (emphasis added). Lunschen relied on that testimony in his closing argument:

[Dr. Johnson] says there is acute trauma to the L4 and L5 area, and he ties it together this way: He says that the 1989 injury resulted in him developing posttraumatic changes in his lumbar spine of an asymmetric nature, and that was consistent with trauma. And then you add in his laborintensive life-style after that period, and it predisposed him to an injury such as the one he sustained in 2005.

So then in 2005, caused further asymmetric progression of degenerative changes in his lumbar spine and it predisposed him then to aggravation of his low back with less stress than if the 2005 injury had not occurred.

RP (3/11/15) at 181.

If a party can argue its theory under the instructions given as a whole, the trial court's refusal to give a requested instruction is not reversible error. *See Raum*, 171 Wn. App. at 142. In this case, the trial court's multiple proximate cause instruction allowed Lunschen to argue that his 2012 gardening injury was a cause of the degenerative changes in his lumbar spine. Specifically, the instruction provided that "[t]here may

be one or more proximate causes of a condition" and "[t]he law does not require that the industrial injury be the sole proximate cause of such condition." CP 368. Lunschen could adequately present and argue his predisposition theory using that instruction.

Lunschen was also not prejudiced by the omission of the "lighting up" instruction because it is likely the jury would have reached the same result even if the "lighting up" instruction had been given. *See Harker-Lott*, 93 Wn. App. at 188. The instruction would not likely have changed the trial's outcome because the ultimate issue in this case was not whether Lunschen's 2005 industrial injury lit up his preexisting degenerative disc disease. The ultimate issue was whether his industrially-related condition objectively worsened or whether he sustained a new, unrelated injury from his gardening activities in 2012. Including the instruction would not have changed the argument Lunschen made to the jury that the 2005 injury accelerated his degenerative changes and made his back more susceptible to injury. RP (3/11/15) at 181-82.

For those reasons, the evidence was insufficient to justify the giving of a "lighting up" instruction and it was properly refused.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Rejecting the *McDougle* Aggravation Instruction Because *McDougle* Applies Only When a Claim Is Closed With a Permanent Partial Disability Award, Which Did Not Occur Here

The trial court correctly rejected Lunschen's request for an aggravation instruction based on McDougle, 64 Wn.2d 640, because it would have been erroneous to give that instruction. Under McDougle, the aggravation of a claimant's disability caused by the ordinary incidents of living that he or she could reasonably be expected to do is compensable as attributable to a condition caused by the original injury; however, aggravation caused by conduct in which the claimant could not, because of an existing disability, reasonably expect to engage in without injury is not compensable. Id. at 644. Well-established case law, including the recent decision in Department of Labor & Industries v. Shirley, 171 Wn. App. 870, 883, 288 P.3d 390 (2012), makes clear that *McDougle*'s "reasonably expected conduct" test applies only when the Department closed the worker's claim with a permanent partial disability award. Because Lunschen's claim closed without any such disability award, the trial court properly rejected his instruction.

In the context of reopening a workers' compensation claim,

McDougle applies only when the Department closed the claim with a

finding of permanent partial disability, which results in a monetary

disability award. In *McDougle*, the worker's claim closed with a 30 percent permanent partial disability award for his back. *McDougle*, 64 Wn.2d at 641. He applied to reopen his claim, alleging that his industrially-related low back condition had worsened as a result of lifting sacks of ground feed while assisting his brother-in-law outside of work. *Id.* at 641-42.

The *McDougle* Court concluded that the worker could reopen his claim even though the lifting incident occurred outside of work because the worker's permanent disability from his original injury was a cause of his back condition after lifting the feed. *See id.* at 644. The Court held that when "incidents of ordinary living" aggravate a worker's industrially-related disability, the proper test to determine if those incidents were an independent intervening cause is "whether the activity which caused the aggravation is something that the claimant might reasonably be expected to be doing, or whether it is something that *one with his disability* would not reasonably be expected to be doing." *Id.* at 645 (emphasis added).

Thus, *McDougle* establishes that there must be a preexisting permanent disability established at claim closure before this "reasonably expected conduct" test applies. The Court remanded the case for the Department to consider whether the worker's activities were reasonable in

light of his previously-established 30 percent permanent partial disability. *Id.* at 645-46.

After remand and further appeal, the Supreme Court held that McDougle's claim should be reopened because his conduct moving the feed was reasonable in light of his 30 percent disability. See Scott Paper Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 73 Wn.2d 840, 848, 440 P.2d 818 (1968). As the Court explained, "when subjected to the proper criteria, the claimant's conduct was such as could reasonably be expected of a man with his disability." Id. (emphases added). The Court explicitly analyzed McDougle's grain lifting activity "within the scope of the prior award" he received, and it explained that the "reasonably expected conduct test" applies to the Department-established disability of 30 percent permanent partial disability, not to the "claimant's subjective personally known condition." Id. at 847-48.

A recent death benefits case further affirmed that *McDougle*'s "reasonably expected conduct" test applies only when there is a prior permanent partial disability award. *See Shirley*, 171 Wn. App. at 883. The court specifically noted that the test in *Scott Paper* referred to the "Department-established disability." *Id.* The presence of this disability is critical because *McDougle* provides an exception to common-sense reasoning that where an everyday, non-work-related activity worsens a

worker's condition, that activity breaks the causal chain between the work injury and the worsened condition. Where the worker has a prior disability related to his or her claim, a causal connection between the worker's worsened condition and the work injury is retained as long as the everyday activity was reasonable in light of that disability. The existence of a permanent partial disability is the linchpin that makes it possible to attribute a worker's everyday activities to his or her work injury. If not, then there would be strict liability for the Department every time the worker reinjures his or her back doing an everyday activity, even though it is res judicata that the back condition healed with no disability. *See White v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 48 Wn.2d 413, 414, 293 P.2d 764 (1956) (holding closing order indicating that claimant had suffered no permanent disability was res judicata as to claimant's condition or disability as of that date).

In this case, therefore, it would have been error for the trial court to instruct the jury on the *McDougle* "reasonably expected conduct" test because Lunschen's claim closed without a permanent partial disability award. CP 16, 60. The trial court is not obligated to instruct regarding a party's theory of the case unless there is substantial evidence to support the theory. *Stiley*, 130 Wn.2d at 498. Because Lunschen did not appeal the June 2005 order closing Lunschen's claim with no permanent partial

disability, it is res judicata that he had no disability or impairment at that time causally related to his January 2005 industrial injury. CP 16, 60; see White, 48 Wn.2d at 414 (order finding no permanent partial disability is res judicata as to no disability proximately caused by the injury on that date). Therefore, McDougle's "reasonably expected conduct" test does not apply here because substantial evidence does not support giving the instruction.

Lunschen's reliance on *Collins v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 42 Wn.2d 903, 905, 259 P.2d 643 (1953), is misplaced. *See*App. Br. 26, 41-42. *Collins* merely states that a previous permanent partial disability award is not necessary for a claimant to make a claim for aggravation of his condition. 42 Wn.2d at 905. That rule allows Lunschen to seek reopening of his claim in this case (since he had no previous permanent partial disability award), but it does not follow that he is entitled to a *McDougle* aggravation instruction, which *McDougle*, *Scott Paper*, and *Shirley* show applies only to claimants, unlike Lunschen, who have a Department-established disability when they apply to reopen their claim.

As *McDougle*, *Scott Paper*, and *Shirley* make clear, the "disability" in the *McDougle* aggravation context is Department-established disability at the time the claim is closed. Lunschen proposes that "disability" has a

"dual meaning," but cites no authority to support his proposition that the term "in the *McDougle* aggravation context "also can mean the residual effect of an injury that may impact the claimant's life." *See* App. Br. 41; *see also DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962) ("Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court . . . may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none."). Lunschen also cites no authority for his argument that a person who does not receive a permanent partial disability award may still have a permanent partial disability of less than five percent at the time his or her claim is closed. *See* App. Br. 26. To the contrary, WAC 296-20-680(3) specifies that a category one permanent impairment of the low back is equivalent to zero percent total body impairment, not "from 0-4% impairment" as Lunschen asserts. *See* App. Br. 45. This Court should reject these unsupported arguments.

In summary, at the time of claim closure, Lunschen's industrially-related condition had resolved and he did not have any disability related to that condition. Therefore, the facts of his case do not support an argument under *McDougle* that aggravation of his industrial injury from his gardening injury was compensable under his claim. This Court should affirm the trial court's refusal to give the *McDougle* aggravation instruction because it would have been legally erroneous.

Even if this Court determines that the McDougle instruction should have been given, the failure to give it did not materially affect the trial's outcome. As with the "lighting up" instruction, Lunschen was able to argue his theory of the case using the multiple proximate cause instruction. Indeed, he appears to concede that *McDougle* simply applies basic proximate cause principles as to "whether 'but for' the original injury the worker would not have sustained the subsequent condition." App. Br. 38. Using the multiple proximate cause instruction, Lunschen was able to argue that he would not have suffered the injury he did while working in his garden if he had not previously injured himself at work in 2005. RP (3/11/15) at 182. Such an argument is not "esoteric and difficult for the jury to grasp." App. Br. 42. It is a routine causation argument that Lunschen made to the jury, and which the jury rejected. See RP (3/11/15) at 182. Lunschen suffered no prejudice from the court's decision not to give this instruction.

D. This Court Cannot Review the Trial Court's Denial of Lunschen's Motion for Summary Judgment Because It Was Based on the Existence of Material Facts in Dispute

This Court should decline to address Lunschen's request to review the trial court's denial of his motion for summary judgment. *See* App. Br. 42-46. Denial of a motion for summary judgment generally is not an appealable order. RAP 2.2(a); *see Sea-Pac Co. v. United Food & Comm'l* 

Workers Local Union 44, 103 Wn.2d 800, 801-02, 699 P.2d 217 (1985). A summary judgment denial cannot be appealed following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts are disputed and must be resolved by the factfinder. *Kaplan v. Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co.*, 115 Wn. App. 791, 799, 65 P.3d 16 (2003).

The trial court denied Lunschen's motion for summary judgment because there were material facts in dispute. CP 321. Medical experts in this case offered differing opinions on causation. Those disputed facts were presented to the jury, which resolved them in the Department's favor. CP 376. A final judgment was entered following the jury's verdict. CP 381-83. Therefore, Lunschen is limited to appeal from the final judgment. RAP 2.2(a). This Court should decline to review the trial court's denial of summary judgment.

### E. Lunschen Is Not Entitled to Attorney Fees

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